

By David Foster 07 December 2023

Early years funding in England

Summary

- 1 Introduction
- 2 Funding for the childcare entitlements
- 3 Extension of 30 hours entitlement
- 4 Other sources of early years funding
- 5 Maintained Nursery Schools
- 6 Commentary and reports on early years funding

Contributing Authors

Niamh Foley, accompanying spreadsheet

Image Credits

Child playing in nursery / image cropped. Licensed under Pixabay License – no copyright required.

Disclaimer

The Commons Library does not intend the information in our research publications and briefings to address the specific circumstances of any particular individual. We have published it to support the work of MPs. You should not rely upon it as legal or professional advice, or as a substitute for it. We do not accept any liability whatsoever for any errors, omissions or misstatements contained herein. You should consult a suitably qualified professional if you require specific advice or information. Read our briefing 'Legal help: where to go and how to pay' for further information about sources of legal advice and help. This information is provided subject to the conditions of the Open Parliament Licence.

Feedback

Every effort is made to ensure that the information contained in these publicly available briefings is correct at the time of publication. Readers should be aware however that briefings are not necessarily updated to reflect subsequent changes.

If you have any comments on our briefings please email papers@parliament.uk. Please note that authors are not always able to engage in discussions with members of the public who express opinions about the content of our research, although we will carefully consider and correct any factual errors.

You can read our feedback and complaints policy and our editorial policy at <u>commonslibrary.parliament.uk.</u> If you have general questions about the work of the House of Commons email <u>hcenquiries@parliament.uk</u>.

Contents

Summary		
1	Introduction	9
2	Funding for the childcare entitlements	11
2.1	Funding from the DfE to local authorities	11
	Funding for three and four-year-olds	12
	Funding for two-year-olds	13
	Update to funding formulas for 2023-24	14
2.2	Funding of childcare providers by local authorities	14
	Three and four-year-olds	15
	Two-year-olds	16
2.3	Funding rates from 2017-18 to 2022-23	17
	2017-18	17
	2018-19 and 2019-20	18
	2020-21	18
	2021-22	18
	2022-23	19
2.4	Funding for 2023-24	19
	Increase in funding rates from September 2023	20
3	Extension of 30 hours entitlement	21
3.1	Consultation on funding the new entitlement	22
	New funding formula	22
	Rules for local authority funding formulae	23
3.2	Funding rates from 2024-25	24
4	Other sources of early years funding	25
4.1	Early Years Pupil Premium	25
4.2	Disability Access Fund	26

4.3	Special Educational Needs (SEN) Inclusion Funds	27
4.4	Covid catch-up funding	28
5	Maintained Nursery Schools	30
5.1	Background	30
5.2	Supplementary funding	30
	Funding for 2020-21	31
	Funding for 2021-22	31
	Funding for 2022-23	32
	Funding for 2023-24	32
	Funding for 2024-25	33
5.3	Education Committee report	33
6	Commentary and reports on early years funding 34	
6.1	Early years funding levels	34
	DfE's 2021 provider finances report	35
	DfE research on cost pressures	36
	IFS analysis of early years funding	36
6.2	Are there enough childcare places?	37
6.3	Extension of 30 hours entitlement	39
6.4	Education Committee report	41
	Government response	42

Summary

How is early years provision funded?

The majority of Government funding for early years providers in England is currently delivered via three childcare entitlements:

- 15 hours universal entitlement for all three and four-year-olds.
- 15 hours entitlement for disadvantaged two-year-olds.
- Extended 30 hours entitlement for three and four-years-olds of eligible working parents. From April 2024, the 30 hours entitlement will be extended in stages to children aged nine months to three years.

Funding for the entitlements is included in the Early Years Block of each local authority's Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). Additional Government funding for disadvantaged children (Early Years Pupil Premium) and children with additional needs (Disability Access Fund) is also included in the Early Years Block, along with supplementary funding for maintained nursery schools.

In financial year 2023-24 the initial funding allocation for <u>the Early Years Block</u> was around £3.9 billion.

Funding rates

Government funding for the three childcare entitlements is determined using two separate funding formulas:

- Funding for the 15 and 30 hours entitlements for three and four-year-olds is determined using the Early Years National Funding Formula (EYNFF).
- A separate formula is used to determine funding for the two-year-old entitlement.

The formulas determine the hourly per-child funding rate each local authority is paid in respect of the entitlements. This is then multiplied by the number of children taking up the entitlements to determine a local authority's funding allocation.

The spreadsheet published alongside this briefing details the funding rates for individual local authorities for each financial year from 2019-20 to 2022-23.

The actual funding rate paid to early years providers in an area is determined by the local authority, within a statutory framework.

Increase in funding rates from September 2023

At the <u>Spring Budget 2023</u>, the Government said it would provide additional funding to increase the hourly funding rate for the existing childcare entitlements. £204 million will be provided in 2023-24 (paid from September 2023 via the <u>Early Years Supplementary Grant</u>) and £288 million will be provided in 2024-25.

As a result of the additional funding, the national average funding rate for the three and four-year-old entitlements increased from $\pounds 5.29$ per hour to $\pounds 5.62$ per hour from September 2023. The national average funding rate for two-year-olds increased from $\pounds 6.00$ per hour to $\pounds 7.95$ per hour.

Extension of 30 hours entitlement

At the Spring Budget 2023, <u>the Government announced the 30 hours</u> <u>entitlement will be extended</u> in stages from April 2024 to children aged nine months to three years in England. Eligibility will match the existing entitlement: it will be available only for the children of working families.

By 2027-28, the Government will provide around £4.1 billion to fund the extension of the 30 hours entitlement.

A <u>new funding formula will be introduced to calculate funding rates for</u> <u>children aged two and under</u>, including those eligible for the entitlement for disadvantaged two-year-olds. In November 2023, the <u>Government confirmed</u> <u>the national average per-child funding rates for 2024-25</u>:

- £5.88 for three and four-year olds, up from £5.62
- £8.28 for two-year-olds, up from £7.95
- £11.22 for children aged under two

While the extension of the 30 hours entitlement to younger children was broadly welcomed, concerns were raised that the <u>funding committed may not</u> <u>be sufficient</u>. It has also been highlighted that, as the Government becomes responsible for funding a greater proportion of pre-school childcare, <u>the</u> <u>importance of getting the funding rate right increases</u>.

Funding for maintained nursery schools

Since the introduction of the EYNFF in financial year 2017-18 the Government has provided additional funding for maintained nursery schools (MNS) in recognition of the higher costs they face. The Government made changes to the way this supplementary funding for MNS is distributed from 2023-24. An additional £10 million of supplementary funding was also provided. In 2024-25, around £85 million of supplementary funding will be provided.

Further information on other sources of funding for early years provides, including the Early Years Pupil Premium, is provided in section four of the briefing.

Commentary on funding levels

Whether early years funding is high enough has been the subject of debate since well before the Covid-19 pandemic. <u>The Institute for Fiscal Studies (IFS)</u> has said this is "an extremely difficult question to answer, not least because there are different definitions of 'high enough'."

<u>Department for Education analysis published in April 2022</u> suggested the mean income-to-cost-ratio (total weekly income divided by total weekly cost) for early years providers was 1.25 in 2021. The median income-to-cost ratio was 0.96, meaning half of providers were at or around the breakeven point.

The Institute for Fiscal Studies (IFS) has estimated that <u>core funding for three</u> and four-year olds was 17% lower in 2022-23 than a decade previously, once childcare providers' specific costs are taken into account. It estimates funding for two-year-olds was no higher in 2022-23 than when the entitlement was introduced in 2015-16.

Are there enough childcare places?

There is a debate as to whether financial pressures in the early years sector are forcing providers to close and negatively affecting childcare sufficiency.

The number of registered early years providers has <u>fallen steadily since 2015</u> and there was a net overall decrease of around 3.320 providers between <u>31 August 2022 and 31 August 2023</u>. Most of the decline was due to a fall in the number of childminders. The number of places offered by providers on the <u>early years register</u> has also declined, but at a slower rate than the number of providers.

<u>Ofsted has said</u> the decrease in the number of childcare providers may "in part be caused by the considerable decrease in the birth rate. There are also

more parents working from home, which may reduce demand for childcare places."

<u>The Government has said</u> the number of places offered by providers has remained broadly stable and it has regular contact with local authorities about their sufficiency of childcare and any issues they are facing.

Education Committee report

In July 2023, the Education Committee published a <u>report on support for</u> <u>childcare and the early years</u>. The report said the free entitlements are "chronically underfunded" and this "is a significant causal factor in the increasing rate of provider closures."

While the Committee welcomed the extension of the 30 hours entitlement, it said the sector needs "a sufficient funding rate" in order to successfully deliver the proposals.

Among other things, the report recommended the Government work with childcare providers and local authorities to set the funding rates at a sufficient level.

The Government's <u>response to the report was published in October 2023</u>. The Government recognised the importance of setting funding rates at the correct level and said data from surveys of providers is used to "support [its] understanding of the costs of delivering childcare and helps to inform the overall quantum of funding required for delivering the early years entitlements."

1 Introduction

This briefing provides an overview of public funding for early years providers in England since financial year 2017-18. Information on support with childcare costs for parents and carers is provided in a separate briefing: <u>Help with</u> <u>childcare costs in England</u>.¹

Most Government funding for early years providers in 2023-24 is delivered via three childcare entitlements:

- **15 hours universal entitlement for three and four-year-olds**: all three and four-year-olds are entitled to 570 hours of Government-funded childcare a year, commonly taken as 15 hours a week for 38 weeks of the year (and often referred to as "15 hours of free childcare"). The entitlement is universal and applies irrespective of income.²
- **15 hours entitlement for disadvantaged two-year-olds:** introduced under the Coalition Government, some two-year-olds are eligible for the "15 hours of free childcare" if certain conditions are met, including if their parents receive specified benefits, they are a looked after child, or they have an Education, Health and Care Plan.³
- Extended 30 hours entitlement: introduced in September 2017, some three and four-year-olds qualify for a further 570 hours of funded childcare on top of the "15 hours of free childcare". This, together with the universal entitlement, is commonly taken as 30 hours a week for 38 weeks of the year (and often referred to as "30 hours of free childcare"). Only three and four-year-olds from working households and certain other households specified in regulations qualify for the extended entitlement.⁴

From April 2024, the 30 hours entitlement will be extended in stages to children aged nine months to three years (further information is provided in section three below).

Funding for the childcare entitlements is included in the Early Years Block of each local authority's Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). Additional Government funding for disadvantaged children (Early Years Pupil Premium) and children with additional needs (Disability Access Fund) is also included in the Early

¹ Commons Library briefing CBP-8054, <u>Help with childcare costs in England</u>.

² <u>15 hours free childcare for 3 and 4-year olds</u>, Gov.uk.

³ Free education and childcare for 2-year-olds, Gov.uk.

⁴ <u>30 hours free childcare</u>, Gov.uk.

Years Block, along with supplementary funding for maintained nursery schools. $^{\scriptscriptstyle 5}$

Although the DSG itself is ring-fenced (and there are limits on how much money can be moved out of the Schools Block), local authorities determine how much funding to allocate to early years as a whole, and the funding rate paid to individual providers.

In 2023-24 the initial funding allocation for the Early Years Block was around \pounds 3.9 billion.⁶ However, the Government has also provided an additional \pounds 204 million of funding for early years providers outside of the DSG (see section 2.4 below).⁷ Early Years Block allocations for <u>2017-18</u>, <u>2018-19</u>; <u>2019-20</u>, <u>2020-21</u>, <u>2021-22</u>, and <u>2022-23</u> are available on Gov.uk.

The Government also provides funding indirectly to the early years sector via support provided to parents with childcare costs – for example, via the Tax Free Childcare and the childcare element of Universal Credit. Further information on this support is available in the Library briefing on help with childcare costs.⁸

⁵ <u>Get extra funding for your early years provider</u>, Gov.uk.

⁶ ESFA, <u>Dedicated schools grant (DSG) 2023 to 2024</u>, 16 November 2023.

⁷ ESFA, Early years supplementary grant 2023 to 2024, September 2023.

⁸ Commons Library briefing CBP-8054, <u>Help with childcare costs in England</u>.

9.1

2 Funding for the childcare entitlements

Funding from the DfE to local authorities

Government funding for the three childcare entitlements is currently determined using two funding formulas:

- Funding for the 15 and 30 hours entitlements for three and four-year-olds is determined using the Early Years National Funding Formula (EYNFF). This was introduced at the same time as the extended entitlement in 2017 and replaced a system based on historic local authority expenditure.⁹ In the future, following the extension of the 30 hours entitlement to younger children (see section three below), the Government intends to refer to the formula as the "three and four-year-old formula."¹⁰
- A separate formula is used to determine funding for the two-year-old entitlement.

The formulas determine the hourly per-child funding rate each local authority is paid in respect of the entitlements (the funding rate for both three and fouryear-old entitlements is the same). This is then multiplied by the number of part-time equivalent children taking up the entitlements (based on the January early years census) to determine the funding to be included in the Early Years Block of the local authority's DSG.¹¹

The actual funding rate paid to early years providers in an area is determined by the local authority, within a statutory framework (see section 2.2 below).

In financial year 2023-24, the initial funding allocation for the universal entitlement for three and four-year-olds was around £2.37 billion. The initial allocation for the extended 30 hours entitlement was £978 million. The initial allocation for the two-year-old entitlement was £413 million.¹²

Detailed guidance on the funding formulae for 2023-24 is available at: <u>Early</u> <u>years funding: 2023 to 2024.</u>¹³ Guidance for earlier years is available via the following links:

⁹ DfE, <u>Early years funding formulae: Government consultation</u> (PDF), July 2022, p4.

¹⁰ ESFA, <u>2024 to 2025 early years national funding formulae: technical note</u>, 29 November 2023.

¹¹ The funding allocations for local authorities are based on actual take up of the entitlement hours and as a result, initial allocations are subsequently updated using more recent census data. <u>PQ30811</u> provides more detail on how this happens in a typical year.

¹² ESFA, <u>Dedicated schools grant (DSG) 2023 to 2024</u>, 16 November 2023.

¹³ ESFA, <u>Early years funding: 2023 to 2024</u>, 19 June 2023.

- Early years funding: 2022 to 2023.14
- Early years funding: 2021-2022.¹⁵
- Early years funding: 2020-2021.¹⁶
- Guidance for 2017-18, 2018-19 and 2019-20 is available at EYNFF: funding rates and guidance.¹⁷

Funding for three and four-year-olds

The EYNFF is composed of three parts:

Local authority hourly per-child funding rate = (base rate + additional needs) x area cost adjustment.

The **base rate** is funding for each child that does not vary across local authorities. A large majority (89.5%) of total funding under the formula is allocated through the base rate.

The **additional needs factor** aims to reflect "the additional costs of providing quality early education for children with additional needs. It accounts for 10.5% of formula funding and is made up of three proxy measures:

- The proportion of children receiving free school meals in a local area at Key Stages 1 and 2 as a "proxy measure for the additional costs of providing for children with disadvantage or low-level special educational needs" (8% of total formula funding is allocated using this metric).
- The proportion of children aged three and four in receipt of Disability Living Allowance in a local area as "a proxy measure for children with more complex special educational needs" (1% of total funding is allocated using this metric).¹⁸
- The proportion of children in a local area with English as an additional language (EAL) at Key Stages 1 and 2, as "a proxy measure for the costs of additional support for children who do not have English as a first language" (1.5% of total funding formula is allocated using this metric).¹⁹

¹⁴ ESFA, <u>Early years funding: 2022 to 2023</u>, 25 November 2021.

¹⁵ ESFA, <u>Early years funding: 2021-2022</u>, last updated 25 November 2021.

¹⁶ ESFA, <u>Early years funding: 2020-2021</u>, last updated 19 December 2019.

¹⁷ ESFA, <u>Early years national funding formula: funding rates and guidance</u>, last updated 22 November 2018.

¹⁸ Prior to 2023/23, the proxy measure was based on the proportion of all children aged 0-5 in receipt of DLA. However, this was changed to children aged three and four following the July 2022 consultation. DfE, <u>Early years funding – Changes to funding for three- and four-year olds:</u> <u>Government consultation response (PDE)</u>, December 2016, p13.

¹⁹ DfE, Early years funding – Changes to funding for three- and four-year olds: Government consultation response (PDF), December 2016, pp12-14; DfE, Early years funding formulae: Government consultation, July 2022, pp12-14.

The **area cost adjustment** reflects ""the relative difference in costs in different areas of the country". It is based primarily on staff costs (based on the general labour market measure) but adjusted for relative nursery premises costs (based on rateable values).²⁰

Further adjustments may then be made as a result of the operation of a **minimum funding floor**. In each year since the introduction of the EYNFF, the DfE has guaranteed each local authority will receive a minimum level of per hourly funding. This was originally set at £4.30 an hour but was increased to $\pounds4.38$ in 2020-21, $\pounds4.44$ in 2021-22 and $\pounds4.61$ for 2022-23.²¹ It was initially set at $\pounds4.87$ in 2023-24 but, as a result of the additional funding announced at the Spring Budget 2023 (see section 2.4 below), it increased to $\pounds5.20$ from September 2023.²²

Box 1: Transition to the EYNFF

To limit the overall funding reductions individual local authorities could face as a result of the introduction of the EYNFF, a funding floor was put in place to ensure no authority faced a reduction in its hourly funding rate of greater than 10% against its 2016-17 baseline.

In addition to this overall protection, the Department for Education (DfE) also proposed to protect local authorities on an annual basis as they transitioned to their new funding rates under the formula. Local authorities' annual reductions in their hourly rates were limited at 5% in both 2017-18 and 2018-19.²³

Funding for two-year-olds

The funding formula for the two-year-old entitlement is made up of two parts:

Local authority hourly per-child funding rate = base rate x area costs adjustment. 24

²⁰ Department for Education (DfE), <u>Early years funding – Changes to funding for three- and four-year olds: Government consultation response (PDF)</u>, December 2016, pp14-15; DfE, <u>Early years funding formulae: Government consultation</u> (PDF), July 2022, pp15-16.

²¹ ESFA, <u>Early years funding: technical note for 2021 to 2022</u>, 22 April 2021. <u>HCWS421 [Early Years Education Entitlements: Hourly Funding Rates]</u>, 25 November 2021.

 ²² DfE, <u>Early years funding formulae: Government consultation response</u> (PDF), December 2022, pp23 &
7.

²³ DfE, An early years national funding formula and changes to the way the three- and four-year-old entitlements to childcare are funded – Government consultation (PDE), August 2016, p52, para 213 and p53, para 216, and DfE, Early years funding – Changes to funding for three- and four-year olds: Government consultation response (PDE), December 2016, p5.

²⁴ DfE, Early years funding formulae: Government consultation (PDF), July 2022, p21.

As for the EYNFF, the area costs adjustment acts as a multiplier and is primarily based on staff costs (based on the general labour market measure) but adjusted for relative nursery premises costs (based on rateable values).²⁵

Update to funding formulas for 2023-24

Following a consultation, for 2023-24 the Government updated the data sets used in the two funding formulas and made some technical changes to the way some of the factors are calculated. No major alterations were made to the structure or composition of the formulas, however. The Government plans to update the data annually in the future.

In addition, for 2023-24 the formulas were used to calculate updated funding rates for local authorities (that is, the base rate was altered).²⁶ The base rates had not previously been updated since the EYNFF was introduced in 2017. Funding increases from 2020-21 (see section 2.3 below) were provided by giving local authorities fixed pence uplifts to their hourly rates rather than using the formula to calculate an updated rate.²⁷

Transitional protections

The updates to the formulas resulted in changes to local authorities' funding rates, with some seeing a reduction. To mitigate this, a year-to-year protection of +1% applied for both the EYNFF and the two-year-old formula in 2023-24. In addition, gains caps of 4.9% for the EYNFF and 10.0% for the two-year-old formula were applied.²⁸

Funding of childcare providers by local authorities

While the EYNFF and the two-year-old formula determine local authority funding allocations in respect of the three childcare entitlements, local authorities determine the hourly rate paid to providers in their areas (they may also retain some of funding for central administration costs).

Detailed information on the requirements for 2023-24 is provided in DfE guidance: Early years funding: 2023 to 2024.²⁹

²⁵ Department for Education (DfE), <u>Early years funding – Changes to funding for three- and four-year olds: Government consultation response (PDE)</u>, December 2016, pp14-15; DfE, <u>Early years funding formulae: Government consultation</u> (PDF), July 2022, pp15-16.

²⁶ DfE, <u>Early years funding formulae: Government consultation</u> (PDF), July 2022, pp13-18.

²⁷ DfE, Early years funding formulae: Government consultation (PDF), July 2022; HC Deb 4 July 2022, cc42-44WS; DfE, 2023-24 Early years funding formulae: technical note (PDF), July 2022; DfE, Early years funding formulae: Government consultation response (PDF), December 2022.

²⁸ DfE, <u>Early years funding formulae: Government consultation response</u> (PDF), December 2022, p8.

²⁹ ESFA, <u>Early years funding: 2023 to 2024</u>, 19 June 2023.

Three and four-year-olds

The DfE sets out several requirements that local authorities must follow when funding providers for the 15 hours universal entitlement and the 30 hours extended entitlement.

It expects local authorities to fund providers in the same way for both entitlements. They must therefore use the same hourly rate and same supplements (see below) for both.

Minimum pass-through

Local authorities are required to pass through a minimum proportion of their EYNFF funding to providers to ensure "the vast majority of government funding reaches providers so that they can deliver the government's free entitlements." The pass-through funding level was set at 93% in 2017-18 and has been 95% since 2018-19. ³⁰ This means centrally retained funding (for central services or services in-kind), combined with any funding movement out of the Early Years Block, has been limited to a maximum of 5% since 2018/19.

In "exceptional circumstances" the DfE will consider requests from local authorities to disapply the pass-through requirement. However, it says it does not expect many local authorities will need to do this.

Only funding allocated under the EYNFF is subject to the pass-through rule. It does not currently apply to other Early Years Block funding streams, including funding for the two-year-old entitlement.³¹

Universal base rate

Previously, some local authorities paid different hourly rates to childcare providers based on the setting type. Since 2019-20 authorities have been required to use the same base funding rate (a universal base rate) for all childcare providers in their three and four-year-olds funding formula. While this applies to maintained nursery schools (MNS) as to other providers, local authorities may use "lump sums" to distribute additional funding to MNS.³²

Supplements

Local authorities may apply supplements in addition to the base rate. However, the total value of any supplements must not be more than 12% of the total planned formula funding for providers.³³ Prior to 2023-24, the supplements cap was 10%.³⁴

³⁰ DfE, Early years funding: Changes to funding for three- and four-year olds: Government consultation response (PDF), December 2016, p5.

³¹ ESFA, <u>Early years funding: 2023 to 2024</u>, 19 June 2023.

³² ESFA, <u>Early years funding: 2023 to 2024</u>, 19 June 2023.

³³ ESFA, <u>Early years funding: 2023 to 2024</u>, 19 June 2023.

 ³⁴ ESFA, <u>Early years entitlements: local authority funding of providers operational guide 2022 to 2023</u>,
25 November 2021.

Local authorities must have a deprivation supplement and are permitted to use other funding supplements provided they fall within the categories below:

- **Sparsity/rurality**: "to support providers serving rural areas less likely to benefit from economies of scale."
- **Flexibility**: "to support providers in offering flexible provision for parents" (for example, wraparound care and out-of-hours provision).
- Quality: "to support workforce qualifications, or system leadership".
- **English as an additional language (EAL)**: "to recognise differences in attainment [...] between children whose first language is English, and those who have English as an additional language (EAL)".

For all supplements, local authorities "have the freedom to choose the appropriate metric for allocating funding but should be transparent about the metric chosen." $^{\rm 35}$

Two-year-olds

There are differences between how local authorities are currently expected to fund providers for the two-year-old entitlement compared to the entitlements for three and four-year-olds. This includes:

- There is currently no requirement to pass through a set amount of Government funding to providers. The Government says this is because data shows most of the funding is already being passed through to providers.
- There are no compulsory supplements for two-year-olds. Local authorities are "encouraged to fund providers based on a flat hourly rate for all providers".³⁶

However, from 2024-25 the Government is proposing that the same rules will apply for both three and four-year-old funding and two-year-old funding (see section 3.1).³⁷

³⁵ ESFA, <u>Early years funding: 2023 to 2024</u>, 19 June 2023.

³⁶ ESFA, <u>Early years funding: 2023 to 2024</u>, 19 June 2023.

³⁷ DfE, Early years funding – extension of the entitlements: Government consultation, 21 July 2023, p6.

2.3

Funding rates from 2017-18 to 2022-23

2017-18

Funding for three and four-year-olds

Average national funding rate for 3 and 4 year olds (cash terms):	At the <u>2015 Spending Review</u> , the Government announced that from 2017-18 it would "invest £300 million to increase the average hourly rate childcare providers receive". ³⁹ This followed a <u>review of childcare costs</u> undertaken by the DfE, which was published in November 2015. ⁴⁰	
2017-18: £4.76	In its <u>response to the consultation on the EYNFF</u> (PDF), published in December 2016, the DfE additionally said it would guarantee every local authority would	
2018-19: £4.75	receive a minimum funding rate of at least £4.30 an hour from 2017-18. This would be paid for by additional investment on top of the £300 million	
2019-20: £4.75	announced at the Spending Review.	
2020-21: £4.83	The consultation response said that, as a result of the additional investments,	
2021-22: £4.88	the national average hourly funding rate would increase to £4.94 for 2017-18, from £4.56 in 2016-17. This figure included the Early Years Pupil Premium, the	
2022-23: £5.04	Disability Access Fund, supplementary funding for maintained nursery schools, and quality and expertise funding. ⁴¹ The average rate excluding	
2023-24 (Apr-Sep): £5.29	these additional funding streams was £4.76 in 2017-18. ⁴² Any references to average funding rates in the remainder of this section also exclude these additional funding streams.	
2023-24 (Sep-Mar): £5.62.	It should be noted that references in this section to average hourly funding rates refer to the national average rate. The rates received by an individual	
2024-25: £5.88. ³⁸	local authority or an individual childcare provider may differ from the national average.	

The spreadsheet published alongside the briefing paper details the funding rates for individual local authorities for the three and four-year-old entitlements, and the two-year-old entitlement, for each year from 2019/20 to 2022/23.

Funding for two-year-olds

In its <u>2016 consultation on the EYNEF</u> (PDF), the DfE said funding for disadvantaged two-year-olds was "already allocated on a fair and formulaic

³⁸ PQ 1144, 13 May 2021; PQ 166196 [Childcare: Fees and Charges], 15 March 2023; HCWS78 [Early Years Update], 29 November 2023.

³⁹ HM Treasury, <u>Spending Review and Autumn Statement 2015</u>, Cm9162, November 2015, p44. The then Education Secretary stated that this meant that the cost of the extended entitlement policy would be "more than £1 billion a year" by 2019-20, <u>HC Deb 25 November 2015</u>, c1416.

⁴⁰ DfE, <u>Review of childcare costs</u>, 25 November 2015.

⁴¹ DfE, <u>Early years funding – Changes to funding for three- and four-year olds: Government</u> <u>consultation response (PDF)</u>, December 2016, pp5-6.

⁴² <u>PQ 1144</u>, 13 May 2021.

basis" and it did not propose any changes. It did, however, say the additional funding announced at the 2015 Spending Review would be used to increase the average hourly funding rate for two-year-olds from \pounds 5.09 to \pounds 5.39 from 2017-18.⁴³

2018-19 and 2019-20

No major changes were made to the hourly funding rates paid to local authorities in 2018-19 or 2019-20. The only reason for any changes in a local authority's rates compared to 2017-18 was the operation of the transitional protections (and the corresponding cap on gains in 2018-19) for three and four-year-olds funding.⁴⁴

The national average funding rate for three and four-year-olds was £4.75 in both 2018-19 and 2019-20. 45 The average funding rate for two-year-olds remained unchanged at £5.39.

2020-21

At <u>Spending Round 2019</u>, the Government announced it would "increase early years spending by £66 million" to increase the hourly rate paid to childcare providers.⁴⁶ As a result, the hourly funding rates for three and four-year-olds and for two-year-olds were increased by eight pence for all areas (except those local authorities which had had their three and four-year-old funding protected by the loss cap).⁴⁷

The national average funding rate for three and four-year-olds increased to $\pounds 4.83$.⁴⁸ The average funding rate for two-year-olds increased to $\pounds 5.48$.⁴⁹

2021-22

At the <u>2020 Spending Review</u> (PDF), the Government announced it would provide £44 million for early years education to increase the hourly rate paid to childcare providers. It added this was on top of the £66 million announced at Spending Round 2019.⁵⁰

As a result, the hourly funding rate for the three and four-year-old entitlements increased by six pence in all areas (apart from those authorities

Average funding rate for 2 year-old entitlement (cash terms):

2016-17: £5.09

2017-18: £5.39

2018-19: £5.39

2019-20: £5.39

2020-21: £5.48

2021-22: £5.56

2022-23: £5.77

2023-24 (Apr-Sep): £6.00

2023-24 (Sep-Mar): £7.95

2024-25: £8.28.

⁴³ DfE, <u>An early years national funding formula: Government consultation (PDF)</u>, August 2016, p32.

⁴⁴ DfE, <u>EYNFF: technical note for 2018 to 2019 (Word)</u>, November 2017, p4.

⁴⁵ <u>PQ 1144</u>, 13 May 2021.

⁴⁶ HM Treasury, <u>Spending Round 2019 (PDF)</u>, CP170, September 2019, para 2.10.

 ⁴⁷ Thirteen local authorities which had had their 2019/20 hourly funding rate protected by the loss cap received either the same funding rate in 2020/21 or an increase of less than eight pence. <u>HCWS56</u>, 31 October 2019; ESFA, <u>Early years national funding formula: funding rates and step-by-step calculation for 2020-21</u>, December 2019.

⁴⁸ <u>PQ 1144</u>, 13 May 2021.

⁴⁹ <u>HCWS56</u>, 31 October 2019; <u>PQ 1144</u>, 13 May 2021.

⁵⁰ HM Treasury, <u>Spending Review 2020 (PDF)</u>, CP330, November 2020, para 6.19.

which had had their funding rates protected by the loss cap).⁵¹ The national average funding rate increased to £4.88.⁵²

The funding rate for two-year-olds was increased by eight pence, taking the national average funding rate to ± 5.56 .⁵³

2022-23

At the <u>Autumn Budget and Spending Review 2021</u>, the Government said it would provide £170 million by 2024-25 to increase the hourly funding rate paid to early years providers.⁵⁴ The day after the Budget, the then Minister, Will Quince, confirmed additional funding of £160 million in 2022-23, £180 million in 2023-24 and £170 million in 2024-25.⁵⁵

The DfE subsequently clarified that the additional funding each year is based on a 2021-22 baseline and is not cumulative (that is, funding in 2024-25 will be £10 million lower than in 2022-23). The Department was reported as saying the funding levels reflect "cost pressures as well as anticipated changes in the number of eligible children".⁵⁶ Further details on the population estimates underlying the funding levels was provided <u>in response to a parliamentary</u> question on 2 February 2022.⁵⁷

The hourly funding rate for the three and four-year-old entitlements in 2022-23 increased by seventeen pence "in the vast majority of areas".⁵⁸ The average national average funding rate increased to £5.04.⁵⁹

The funding rate for the two-year-olds increased by 21 pence in all local authorities and the national average rate increased to £5.77.⁶⁰

2.4 Funding for 2023-24

In its response to the 2022 consultation on the funding formulae (see section 2.1 above), the Government said it would provide an additional £20 million in 2023-24 on top of the funding announced at the 2021 Spending Review, to help

- ⁵⁴ HM Treasury, <u>Autumn Budget and Spending Review 2021</u>, 27 October 2021, para 4.14.
- ⁵⁵ Children and Young People Now, <u>Children's minister confirms £340m funding boost for early years</u> not announced in Spending Review, 28 October 2021.
- ⁵⁶ Children and Young People Now, <u>Early years funding significantly less than expected</u>, sector fears, 27 January 2022.
- ⁵⁷ PQ 120848 [Pre-school Education: Finance], 21 February 2022.
- ⁵⁸ <u>HCWS421 [Early Years Education Entitlements: Hourly Funding Rates]</u>, 25 November 2021.
- ⁵⁹ PQ 166196 [Childcare: Fees and Charges], 15 March 2023.
- ⁶⁰ HCWS421 [Early Years Education Entitlements: Hourly Funding Rates], 25 November 2021; PQ 166196 [Childcare: Fees and Charges], 15 March 2023.

⁵¹ <u>PQ 130188</u>, 15 December 2020. For further details, see <u>Early years national funding formula: funding</u> rates and step-by-step calculation for 2021-22.

⁵² <u>PQ 1144</u>, 13 May 2021.

⁵³ PQ 130188, 15 December 2020. For further details, see Early years national funding formula: funding rates and step-by-step calculation for 2021-22; PQ 1144, 13 May 2021.

meet the cost of increases in the National Living Wage.⁶¹ As a result, the national average funding rate for the three and four-year-old entitlements increased to $\pounds 5.29$ and the average rate for two-year olds increased to $\pounds 6.00$.⁶²

Increase in funding rates from September 2023

In addition to announcing plans to extend the 30 hours entitlement to younger children (see section three below), at the <u>Spring Budget 2023</u> the Government said it would provide funding to increase the hourly funding rate for the existing childcare entitlements. £204 million will be provided in 2023-24 (paid from September 2023) and £288 million will be provided in 2024-25.⁶³ This funding is additional to the funding to expand the 30 hours entitlement.⁶⁴

The additional funding for 2023-24 was provided through a separate grant – the <u>Early Years Supplementary Grant (EYSG</u>). Broadly, the amount of EYSG funding local authorities received was calculated using the formulae, formula weightings and formula factors used to calculate the original 2023-24 funding rates.⁶⁵

As a result of the additional funding, the national average funding rate for the three and four-year-old entitlements increased from $\pounds 5.29$ per hour to $\pounds 5.62$ per hour from September 2023. The minimum funding floor for three and four-year-olds increased from $\pounds 4.87$ to $\pounds 5.20$.⁶⁶

The national average funding rate for two-year-olds increased from $\pounds 6.00$ per hour to $\pounds 7.95$ per hour.⁶⁷

The additional funding for 2024-25 will be provided through the Early Years Block in the usual way (that is, there will not be a separate grant).⁶⁸

⁶¹ DfE, <u>Early years funding formulae: Government consultation response</u> (PDF), December 2022, pp23 & 7.

⁶² <u>PQ 166196 [Childcare: Fees and Charges]</u>, 15 March 2023.

⁶³ HM Treasury, <u>Spring Budget 2023</u>, HC 1183, March 2023, para 3.48.

⁶⁴ <u>PQ HL10334 [on Childcare: Finance]</u>, 27 September 2023.

⁶⁵ DfE, <u>Early years supplementary grant 2023 to 2024: methodology</u>, 1 September 2023.

⁶⁶ <u>HCWS923 [on Early Years Funding]</u>, 10 July 2023.

⁶⁷ <u>HCWS923 [on Early Years Funding]</u>, 10 July 2023.

⁶⁸ <u>HCWS923 [on Early Years Funding]</u>, 10 July 2023.

At the Spring Budget 2023, delivered on 15 March, the Government announced the 30 hours entitlement will be extended to children aged nine months to three years in England. Eligibility will match the existing entitlement (it will be available only for the children of working families). The extension will happen in stages:

- From April 2024, eligible two-year-olds will be able to access 15 hours a week.
- From September 2024, the 15 hours will be extended to eligible families of children aged nine months to two years.
- From September 2025, all eligible families with children aged nine months to three years will be able to access 30 hours a week.⁶⁹

By 2027-28, the Government expects to provide around £4.1 billion to fund the extension of the 30 hours entitlement: £1.7 billion in 2024-25, £3.3 billion in 2025-26, £3.3 billion in 2025-26, £4.1 billion in 2026-27 and £4.1 billion in 2027-28.⁷⁰ It expects to be spending more than £8 billion a year on early years education by 2028, around double what it spends now.⁷¹

The following funding rates were used to calculate the estimated cost of the policy:

- Nine months up to two years: £11.06 an hour in 2024-25, adapted annually to account for cost pressures.
- Two-year-olds: £8.17 an hour in 2024-25, adapted annually to account for cost pressures.

The DfE said it had sought to set funding rates that meet the cost to providers of providing the entitlement; which are higher for younger children where costs are greater; and are high enough to allow local authorities to retain the funding needed to deliver the new entitlement.

The cost estimate was additionally based on:

⁶⁹ HM Treasury, <u>Spring Budget 2023</u>, HC 1183, March 2023, para 3.46-3.47.

⁷⁰ HM Treasury, <u>Spring Budget 2023</u>, HC 1183, March 2023, para 3.46.

HC Deb 28 June 2023, c308; DfE, Early education entitlements and funding update: March 2023, 21
July 2023; PQ 2098 [on Childcare: Finance], 20 November 2023.

- Around half of parents with children aged from nine months to two being eligible for the new entitlement.
- Take-up rates varying with the age of the child: around 75% for twoyear-olds; 60% for one-year-olds; and 35% for children aged nine to twelve months.
- Parents using 26 hours of the new entitlement on average.⁷²

Further information on how the Government calculated the estimated cost of the expansion is available in a policy note published by the Department for Education: <u>Spring Budget 2023 Childcare Expansion</u> (PDF).⁷³

Consultation on funding the new entitlement

In July 2023, the Government published a <u>consultation on funding the</u> <u>extension of the entitlements</u>.⁷⁴ It published a <u>response to the consultation</u> on 29 November 2023. This confirmed the Government would take forward "the vast majority" of the proposals from 2024-25.⁷⁵

New funding formula

The consultation response confirmed the Government will introduce a new formula to calculate funding rates for all children aged from nine months up to two years old. The formula will apply regardless of whether a child is accessing the existing entitlement for disadvantaged two-year-olds or the new entitlement. The funding rates will vary by age, with a higher rate for younger children.

Each local authority will be provided with three separate hourly funding rates for their early years funding:

- An hourly funding rate for three and four-year-olds for the universal and additional hours entitlements (no change from the existing approach).
- An hourly funding rate for two-year-olds, which will be for both the disadvantaged and the working parent entitlements.
- An hourly funding rate for children aged between nine months and two, but not including two-year-olds.

 ⁷² DfE, <u>Spring Budget 2023 Childcare Expansion: Policy costing information note</u> (PDF), July 2023, pp3 7.

⁷³ DfE, <u>Spring Budget 2023 Childcare Expansion: Policy costing information note</u> (PDF), July 2023.

⁷⁴ DfE, Early years funding – extension of the entitlements: Government consultation, 21 July 2023.

⁷⁵ DfE, <u>Early years funding – extension of the entitlements: Government consultation response</u>, November 2023, p2.

The new formula for children aged from nine months to two will be similar to the existing formula for three and four-year-olds and will feature:

- A universal base rate that does not vary across local authorities. As with the EYNFF, 89.5% of total funding under the proposed formula will be allocated through the base rate.
- An additional needs factor, which will account for 10.5% of formula funding. This will be similar to the additional needs factor in the EYNFF but the Government proposes using the Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index (IDACI) as an additional proxy measure for deprivation, alongside the free school meals data used in the EYNFF.
- An area costs adjustment to take account of the relative difference in costs in different areas of the country.⁷⁶

Rules for local authority funding formulae

Regarding how local authorities distribute the funding to providers, the consultation proposed extending all the current rules for the three and fouryear-old entitlements (see section 2.1 above) to the existing entitlement for disadvantaged two-year-olds and the new entitlement for working parents of children aged two and under.⁷⁷

The Government response confirmed this broad approach, but with the change that the deprivation supplement will not be a mandatory requirement with respect to funding for children aged two and under. In addition, the Government will require local authorities to "ensure that the funding rate they pay to providers for the disadvantaged two-year-old entitlement is at least equivalent to the rate for the two-year-old working parent entitlement.⁷⁸

The Government will set a specific pass through rate for each of the three funding streams (for three and four-year-olds, two-year-olds, and under twos). It proposes this is set at 95% in 2024/25 for all three streams, but is increased to 97% "once the roll-out of the new entitlements is sufficiently progressed to allow this."⁷⁹

⁷⁷ DfE, <u>Early years funding – extension of the entitlements: Government consultation</u>, 21 July 2023, p6.

⁷⁶ DfE, Early years funding – extension of the entitlements: Government consultation, 21 July 2023, pp12-15; DfE, Early years funding – extension of the entitlements: Government consultation response, November 2023, p18.

⁷⁸ DfE, <u>Early years funding – extension of the entitlements: Government consultation response</u>, November 2023, p10.

⁷⁹ DfE, <u>Early years funding – extension of the entitlements: Government consultation</u>, 21 July 2023, pp19-20; DfE, <u>Early years funding – extension of the entitlements: Government consultation response</u>, November 2023, p10.

3.2Funding rates from 2024-25

In November 2023, the Government announced it would provide <u>additional</u> <u>funding to increase the funding rates for the early years entitlements in 2024-</u> <u>25</u>. This comprised £67 million to reflect the increase in the National Living Wage from April 2023 and £57 million in recognition of teacher pay and pension costs. This funding is in addition to the £288 million of funding for 2024-25 announced at the Spring Budget 2023 (see section 2.4 above).⁸⁰

The Government also <u>confirmed the per-child funding rates for the 2024-25</u> <u>financial year</u>:

- The national average funding rate for the three and four-year-old entitlements will increase from £5.62 per hour to £5.88 per hour. The minimum funding floor will increase to £5.47.
- The national average funding rate for two-year-olds will increase from £7.95 per hour to £8.28 per hour.
- The national average funding rate for children aged under two will be £11.22 per hour.⁸¹

Details of the funding rates for individual local authorities, including technical information on how the rates were calculated, is available at: <u>Early years</u> funding: 2024 to 2025.⁸²

⁸⁰ HCWS78 [Early Years Update], 29 November 2023; DfE, <u>Date set for new childcare offer applications</u>, 29 November 2023.

⁸¹ HCWS78 [Early Years Update], 29 November 2023; ESFA, Early years funding: 2024 to 2025, 29 November 2023.

⁸² ESFA, <u>Early years funding: 2024 to 2025</u>, 29 November 2023.

4 Other sources of early years funding

This section provides information on several sources of funding for early years providers outside of the core funding for the childcare entitlements. Further information on this funding is available at: <u>Sources of income for early years</u> providers.⁸³

4.1 Early Years Pupil Premium

The Early Years Pupil Premium (EYPP), introduced in April 2015, is additional funding for three and four-year-olds who are receiving any number of hours of state-funded early education and:

- meet the benefit-related criteria for free school meals; or
- are currently looked after by a local authority in England or Wales; or
- have left care in England and Wales through adoption, a special guardianship order, a child arrangements order, or a residence order.⁸⁴

EYPP is payable on the universal 15 hours entitlement and not on the extended 30 hours entitlement.⁸⁵

Following its consultation on funding the expansion of the 30 hours entitlement (see section 3.1 above), the Government has confirmed it will expand eligibility for the EYPP to all children eligible accessing a free childcare entitlement from April 2024 (that is, children aged nine months up to four years old).⁸⁶

In 2023-24, around £40 million of EYPP funding was allocated to local authorities as part of the initial Early Years Block allocation.⁸⁷

⁸³ DfE, <u>Sources of income for early years providers</u>, 7 September 2018.

⁸⁴ ESFA, <u>Early years entitlements: local authority funding of providers: Operational guide 2020-21</u> (<u>PDF</u>), December 2019, pp22-6.

⁸⁵ ESFA, <u>Early years entitlements: local authority funding operational guide 2023 to 2024</u>, 19 June 2023.

⁸⁶ DfE, <u>Early years funding – extension of the entitlements: Government consultation</u>, 21 July 2023, p16; DfE, <u>Early years funding – extension of the entitlements: Government consultation response</u>, November 2023, p9.

⁸⁷ ESFA, <u>Dedicated schools grant (DSG) 2023 to 2024</u>, 20 July 2023.

The national rate for the EYPP in 2023-24 is 62 pence per hour per eligible child up to a maximum of 570 hours (£353 a year). Local authorities are expected to fund all providers in their area at this rate.⁸⁸

The national rate was 53 pence per hour between 2015-16 and 2021-22.⁸⁹ However, the rate was increased to 60 pence per hour from 2022-23, to 62 pence per hour from 2023-24.⁹⁰ It will increase to 68 pence per hour from 2024-25.⁹¹

4.2 Disability Access Fund

The Disability Access Fund was introduced in 2017-18 following the DfE's consultation on the EYNFF. It is intended to support disabled children to access the free childcare entitlements for three and four-year-olds – for example, by helping providers make reasonable adjustments to their settings.⁹²

Local authorities receive disability access funding as part of the Early Years Block of the DSG and are responsible for passing the money to providers for each eligible child. Any early years setting which provides places for three or four-year-olds in receipt of Disability Living Allowance accessing the 15 hours universal entitlement is eligible to receive disability access funding of £828 per child in 2023-24.⁹³

The funding rate was £615 per eligible child between 2017-18 and 2021-22. It increased to £800 per child from 2022-23 and to £828 per child from 2023-24.⁹⁴ It will increase to £910 per child from 2024-25.⁹⁵

⁸⁸ While the regulations only require local authorities to fund providers at a rate of 60 pence an hour, the Government expects them to fund providers at 62 pence per hour. ESFA, <u>Early years</u> <u>entitlements: local authority funding operational guide 2023 to 2024</u>, 19 June 2023.

⁸⁹ DfE, Early Years Pupil Premium and funding for two-year-olds (PDF), June 2014, p5.

⁹⁰ HCWS421 [Early Years Education Entitlements: Hourly Funding Rates], 25 November 2021; DfE, Early years 2022 to 2023 hourly funding rates for 2, 3 and 4-year-olds: technical note, 25 November 2021; HCWS457 [Education Funding Update], 19 December 2022.

⁹¹ ESFA, <u>Early years entitlements: local authority funding operational guide 2024 to 2025, 29</u> November 2023.

⁹² ESFA, <u>Early years entitlements: local authority funding operational guide 2023 to 2024</u>, 19 June 2023.

⁹³ Although the regulations only require local authorities to pay DAF at a rate of £800 per eligible child, the Government expects them to pay it at a rate of £828 per child. ESFA, <u>Early years</u> <u>entitlements: local authority funding operational guide 2023 to 2024</u>, 19 June 2023.

⁹⁴ HCWS421 [Early Years Education Entitlements: Hourly Funding Rates], 25 November 2021; DfE, Early years 2022 to 2023 hourly funding rates for 2. 3 and 4-year-olds: technical note, 25 November 2021; HCWS457 [Education Funding Update], 19 December 2022.

⁹⁵ ESFA, <u>2024 to 2025 early years national funding formulae: technical note</u>, 29 November 2023.

4.3

In 2023-24, around £21.3 million of disability access funding was allocated to local authorities as part of the initial Early Years Block allocation.⁹⁶

Following its consultation on funding the expansion of the 30 hours entitlement (see section 3.1 above), the Government has confirmed it will expand eligibility for the Disability Access Fund to all eligible children accessing a free childcare entitlement from April 2024 (that is, children aged nine months up to four years old in receipt of Disability Living Allowance).⁹⁷

Additional funding for ongoing support for disabled young children is also available from the high needs block of the DSG, including for children with Education, Health and Care (EHC) plans.

Special Educational Needs (SEN) Inclusion Funds

Since April 2017, the Government has required local authorities to establish SEN inclusion funds for three and four-year olds who are taking up any number of free entitlement hours.⁹⁸

Local authorities are responsible for deciding the amount of money (pooled from either or both of their early years and high needs DSG funding) they set aside for their SEN inclusion fund, and how the funding will be allocated to providers. Eligibility for funding is similarly determined by local authorities, in consultation with their local early years providers, parents and SEN specialists.

In its <u>response to the 2016 consultation on the EYNFF (PDF)</u>, the DfE said "the fund would be best focused on children with lower level or emerging SEN, since those with more complex SEN (broadly those children in receipt of an Education, Health and Care (EHC) plan) can receive additional funding via the high needs DSG block".⁹⁹

Previously, local authorities were not required to establish a SEN inclusion fund for two-year-olds but could do so if they wished. However, following its consultation on the funding of the new childcare entitlements (see section 3.1 above) the Government confirmed local authorities will be expected to

⁹⁶ ESFA, <u>Dedicated schools grant (DSG) 2023 to 2024</u>, 20 July 2023.

⁹⁷ DfE, <u>Early years funding – extension of the entitlements: Government consultation</u>, 21 July 2023, p16; DfE, <u>Early years funding – extension of the entitlements: Government consultation response</u>, November 2023, p9.

⁹⁸ ESFA, <u>Early years funding: 2023 to 2024</u>, 19 June 2023.

⁹⁹ DfE, <u>An early years national funding formula: Government consultation (PDE)</u>, August 2016, p50-1; DfE, <u>Early years funding: Government consultation response (PDE)</u>, December 2016, pp30-1.

establish SEN inclusion funds for children aged two and under who are taking up the free entitlements from 2024-25. $^{\rm 100}$

In its <u>Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) and Alternative</u> <u>Provision Improvement Plan</u>, published in March 2023, the Government said it would "work with local authorities, early years providers and stakeholders to consider whether changes to the [SEN inclusion fund] and other associated elements of the wider current early years funding system are needed, to ensure early years SEND funding arrangements are appropriate and welltargeted to...improve outcomes for all pre-school children with SEND."¹⁰¹

4.4 Covid catch-up funding

The Government is providing additional funding to support education to recover from the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic in England. This includes the following funding for the early years announced in 2021 (not including children in reception):

- £10 million for a pre-Reception early language continued professional development programme, to support early years staff to work with disadvantaged children who are at risk of falling behind. ¹⁰²
- £153 million to fund training for early years staff, including new programmes focusing on speech and development.¹⁰³

Prior to this, in June 2020, the Government announced £350 million for a <u>National Tutoring Programme</u>, which included around £17 million of funding for the <u>Nuffield Early Language Intervention Programme</u> for reception-aged children.¹⁰⁴

Further information on the £153 million of funding for staff training was provided in a DfE press release in October 2022: £180 million to improve children's development in the early years. The press release also set out that funding would be provided for a third phase of the Professional development programme and to continue the Nuffield Early Language Intervention Programme for another year.¹⁰⁵ Guidance published by the DfE provided

¹⁰⁰ DfE, <u>Early years funding – extension of the entitlements: Government consultation</u>, 21 July 2023, p21; DfE, <u>Early years funding – extension of the entitlements: Government consultation response</u>, November 2023, p10.

¹⁰¹ DfE, <u>SEND and alternative provision improvement plan</u>, March 2023, p87.

¹⁰² DfE, <u>New education recovery package for children and young people</u>, 25 February 2021. <u>PQ12949</u>, 9 June 2021; DfE, <u>Targeted training for staff to teach early language and numeracy skills</u>, 6 September 2021.

¹⁰³ DfE, <u>Huge expansion of tutoring in next step of education recovery</u>, 2 June 2021; Schools Week, <u>DfE's</u> <u>£1.4bn education recovery plan: what you need to know</u>, 2 June 2021; DfE, <u>Factsheet: Early Years</u> <u>Recovery Package</u> (PDF).

¹⁰⁴ DfE, <u>Billion pound Covid catch-up plan to tackle impact of lost teaching time</u>, 19 June 2020; DfE, <u>Catch-up Premium</u>, 27 April 2021; DfE, <u>Factsheet: Early Years Recovery Package</u> (PDF).

¹⁰⁵ DfE, £180 million to improve children's development in the early years, 20 October 2022.

additional details: <u>Early years education recovery programme</u>: <u>supporting the</u> <u>sector</u>.¹⁰⁶

Sutton Trust report

On 20 May 2021, the Sutton Trust published <u>Fairness First: Social Mobility</u>, <u>Covid and Education Recovery</u>. The report argued that "much focus over the past year has been on what has happened in schools, but we cannot afford to forget the youngest and oldest children."¹⁰⁷ It added the pandemic had "laid bare the fragility of a sector which comprises many small and poorly funded private and voluntary providers, particularly those in less well-off areas."¹⁰⁸

The report said early years should "form a central plank of recovery" and recommended:

- Eligibility for funded early education for three-and four-year-olds should be increased, with a focus on those from less well-off homes. A phased introduction to a universal offer of 30 hours, similar to that being applied in Scotland, should be considered.
- An increase in the Early Years Pupil Premium to the levels of primary schools should form part of a new funding settlement that ensures small early years settings and those in less affluent areas can survive and deliver high quality provision.¹⁰⁹

Education Policy Institute report

On 14 May 2021, the Education Policy Institute published <u>Education recovery</u> <u>and resilience in England</u>. The report set out the financial impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on early years providers and noted the role of high quality early education in raising attainment and narrowing the attainment gap.

The report recommended:

- The Early Years Pupil Premium should be increased to the same level as the rate for primary aged pupils. The EPI estimated that this would cost £400 million over three years.
- A pilot study should fund early education and childcare at a higher rate than currently in around 200 settings in disadvantaged areas. The report said there is little evidence of the impact of high quality provision funded at a higher rate.¹¹⁰

¹⁰⁶ DfE, <u>Early years education recovery programme: supporting the sector</u>, 1 December 2022.

¹⁰⁷ Sutton Trust, <u>Fairness First: Social Mobility, Covid and Education Recovery</u>, May 2021, p2.

¹⁰⁸ Sutton Trust, <u>Fairness First: Social Mobility, Covid and Education Recovery</u>, May 2021, p3.

¹⁰⁹ Sutton Trust, <u>Fairness First: Social Mobility, Covid and Education Recovery</u>, May 2021, p3.

¹¹⁰ Education Policy Institute, <u>Education recovery and resilience in England: Phase one report</u>, May 2021, pp36-8.

5 Maintained Nursery Schools

5.1 Background

Maintained nursery schools (MNS) are local authority run schools for two, three and four-year-olds. Like other early years settings, MNS receive funding from central government (via their local authority) for the childcare entitlements. However, their status as schools means they are required to have a headteacher, a governing body, a SENCO (Special Educational Needs Coordinator) and at least one qualified teacher. As a result, they can face higher costs than other early years settings.¹¹¹

5.2 Supplementary funding

In the 2016 consultation on the EYNFF, the DfE acknowledged MNS face "costs over and above other providers because of their structure", which would not be accounted for in the EYNFF. In recognition of this, the consultation proposed supplementary funding of £55 million a year for at least two years to "provide much needed stability to the nursery school sector while they explore how to become more sustainable in the longer term, including exploiting scope for efficiencies."¹¹²

The extra funding would, the consultation said, be available to local authorities to provide a higher hourly funding rate for MNS if they wished:

For at least two years, local authorities will continue to have the autonomy, should they wish to, to fund maintained nursery schools at a different rate to maintain their stability. This means that the indicative average hourly rates for providers we have published are unlikely to be relevant to most maintained nursery schools. Instead, a reasonable planning assumption might be for continuation of similar funding levels.¹¹³

Following some criticism of the proposals, in its December 2016 <u>response</u> to the consultation, the DfE committed to provide the £55 million of additional annual funding to "at least" the end of the then Parliament (2019-20).¹¹⁴ This

¹¹¹ DfE, <u>Early years funding formulae: Government consultation</u>, 4 July 2022, p27.

 ¹¹² DfE, <u>An early years national funding formula: Government consultation (PDF)</u>, August 2016, pp37 & 58.

¹¹³ DfE, <u>An early years national funding formula: Government consultation (PDF)</u>, August 2016, p58.

¹¹⁴ DfE, <u>Early years funding: Government consultation response (PDF)</u>, December 2016, pp3 & 8.

commitment was subsequently reaffirmed following the 2017 general election. $^{\mbox{\tiny 115}}$

Information on how local authority allocations of the supplementary funding were calculated in 2017-18, 2018-19 and 2019-20 is available in the technical notes for the relevant year, available at: <u>Early years national funding formula:</u> funding rates and guidance.¹¹⁶

Funding for 2020-21

In October 2019, the Government confirmed supplementary funding for MNS would "continue, at its current rate, for the whole of the 2020-21 financial year." The statement added, "the government remains committed to funding for MNS in the longer term; and that any reform to the way they are funded in future will be accompanied with funding protections."¹¹⁷

Around £55 million of supplementary funding for MNS was allocated in 2020-21.¹¹⁸

On 24 August 2020, the Government <u>confirmed</u> "supplementary funding worth up to £23 million for Maintained Nursery Schools will be continued through the summer term of 2021 (that is, for the whole of the 2020/21 academic year) to enable local authorities to provide them with reassurance while the Department confirms a long-term solution."¹¹⁹

Funding for 2021-22

In light of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Government conducted a one-year Spending Review in 2020 rather than a multi-year review.¹²⁰

In a letter to the Chief Secretary to the Treasury on 11 November 2020, the All-Party Parliamentary Group for Nursery Schools, Nursery and Reception Classes expressed concern about the "stop-gap" nature of funding for MNS and said the one-year timeframe of the Spending Review "must not cause further delays" to putting funding for MNS "on a long-term basis". MNS are, the letter said, the "only part of the education system whose funding has to be negotiated on a term-by-term and year-by-year basis". ¹²¹

In response to a parliamentary question in November 2020, the then Minister, Vicky Ford, said the DfE had "secured a continuation of around $\pounds 60$ million of supplementary funding for MNS in the 2021-22 financial year, as part of [the

¹¹⁵ <u>PQ1778, 3 July 2017.</u>

¹¹⁶ ESFA, <u>Early years national funding formula: funding rates and guidance</u>, November 2018.

HCWS56, 31 October 2019. See also, DfE press release, <u>Funding boost to support childcare and early</u> education, 31 October 2019.

¹¹⁸ ESFA, <u>Dedicated schools grant (DSG) 2020 to 2021</u>, 18 November 2021.

¹¹⁹ DfE, <u>Early years support package to help close Covid language gap</u>, 24 August 2020.

¹²⁰ HM Treasury, <u>Spending Review to conclude late November</u>, 21 October 2020.

¹²¹ APPG for Nursery Schools, Nursery and Reception Classes, Letter to Rt Hon Stephen Barclay, Chief Secretary to the Treasury, 11 November 2020.

2020 Spending Review]." She added: "The department continues to consider what is required to ensure a clear, long-term picture of funding for all MNS...We will say more about this soon."¹²²

Around £50 million of supplementary funding for MNS was allocated in 2021-22.¹²³

Funding for 2022-23

In a written statement in November 2021, the then Minister, Will Quince, confirmed "the supplementary funding hourly rate for maintained nursery schools [in 2022-23] will increase by 3.5%, equivalent to the increase in the three and four-year-old hourly funding rates."¹²⁴ Total supplementary funding for MNS in 2022-23 was around £51.3 million.¹²⁵

Funding for 2023-24

As set out in section 2.1 above, in July 2022 the DfE published a <u>consultation</u> on the early years funding formulae.¹²⁶

The consultation said the Government remained committed to continuing to provide additional funding to support MNS.¹²⁷ It added, however, that supplementary funding is currently very unevenly distributed as a result of being based purely on the amount each local authority was spending on its MNSs in 2016-17.

The consultation proposed reforms to the way supplementary funding is distributed aimed at correcting the most extreme outliers. This included the introduction of a minimum funding floor and a cap on the MNS supplementary funding hourly rate.

To facilitate the reforms, the consultation said the Government would provide an additional £10 million of MNS supplementary funding in 2023-24 "to ensure that the vast majority of local authorities see their supplementary funding hourly rate increase, with a more generous increase for the lowest funded."¹²⁸

In its response to the consultation, published in December 2022, the Government confirmed that for 2023-24:

• A minimum funding floor for the MNS supplementary funding hourly rate of £3.80 would apply.

¹²² <u>PQ119183</u>, 26 November 2020.

¹²³ ESFA, <u>Dedicated schools grant (DSG) 2021 to 2022</u>, 27 January 2022.

¹²⁴ HCWS421 [Early Years Education Entitlements: Hourly Funding Rates], 25 November 2021.

¹²⁵ ESFA, <u>Dedicated schools grant (DSG) 2022 to 2023</u>, 16 December 2021.

¹²⁶ DfE, <u>Early years funding formulae</u>, 4 July 2022.

¹²⁷ DfE, Early years funding formulae: Government consultation, 4 July 2022, p27.

¹²⁸ DfE, <u>Early years funding formulae: Government consultation</u>, 4 July 2022, p28.

• A cap on the MNS supplementary funding hourly rate of £10 would be introduced.¹²⁹ The Government has said it intended to maintain the cap at this level in 2024-25.¹³⁰

Around £70 million of supplementary funding for MNS was allocated to local authorities as part of the initial Early Years Block allocation.¹³¹

As a result of the additional funding announced at the Spring Budget 2023 (see section 2.4 above), the national average funding rate for MNS supplementary funding increased to \pounds 4.63 and the minimum funding floor was increased to \pounds 4.01.¹³²

Funding for 2024-25

Around £85 million of supplementary funding for MNS will be provided in 2024-25. This includes £8 million of funding for teachers pay and pensions. The minimum funding floor will increase to £4.64 and the cap on the MNS supplementary funding hourly rate will remain at £10. The national average MNS supplementary funding rate will be £5.27.¹³³

5.3 Education Committee report

In its June 2021 report, <u>The forgotten: how White working-class pupils have</u> <u>been let down, and how to change it</u>, the Education Committee cited <u>research</u> <u>published by the DfE in 2019</u> suggesting MNS tend to have "a higher fraction of children from disadvantaged backgrounds, and "higher structural quality" than other provider types."

The Committee's report concluded MNS "deliver consistently high outcomes for disadvantaged pupils, but they face financial difficulties." While welcoming the announcement of continued supplementary funding, the Committee said the "underlying issue of short-termism and insufficiency remain" and called on the Government to "decide how to guarantee [MNS'] long-term future as soon as possible."¹³⁴

The Government's response to the report did not specifically refer to MNS.¹³⁵

¹²⁹ DfE, <u>Early years funding formulae: Government consultation response</u> (PDF), December 2022, p8.

¹³⁰ HCWS457 [Education Funding Update], 19 December 2022.

¹³¹ ESFA, <u>Dedicated schools grant (DSG) 2023 to 2024</u>, 20 July 2023.

¹³² ESFA, <u>2024 to 2025 early years national funding formulae: technical note</u>, 29 November 2023.

¹³³ ESFA, <u>2024 to 2025 early years national funding formulae: technical note</u>, 29 November 2023.

¹³⁴ Education Committee, <u>The forgotten: how White working-class pupils have been let down, and how to change it (PDF)</u>, 22 June 2021, HC 85 2021-22, p33-5.

¹³⁵ Education Committee, <u>Strengthening Home Education: Government Response to the Committee's</u> <u>Third Report</u> (PDF), HC 823 2021/22, 4 November 2021.

6 Commentary and reports on early years funding

6.1 Early years funding levels

Whether early years funding is high enough has been the subject of debate since well before the Covid-19 pandemic. "This is an extremely difficult question to answer", the IFS said in 2020, "not least because there are different definitions of 'high enough'."¹³⁶

Data obtained from the DfE by the Early Years Alliance suggested the average funding rate paid to local authorities for the three and four-year-old entitlements in 2020-21 was two-thirds of what the Government previously estimated would be needed to fully fund the scheme. The data showed, the Alliance said, that the DfE estimated a Government-funded place for three and four-year-olds would cost an average of £7.49 per hour by 2020-21. However, the average rate paid for these entitlements was £4.89 per hour.¹³⁷

In March 2023, the Women's Budget Group estimated there was a shortfall of £1.82 billion between Government funding for the existing childcare entitlements and the actual cost to providers of delivering them.¹³⁸ It estimates that to cover the cost of provision in 2023-24, the funding rate for three and four-year-olds should be £8.54 and the rate for two-year-olds should be £9.58.¹³⁹

Kitty Stewart, an academic at the LSE, has suggested "it is very clear that the existing "free" hours are significantly underfunded" and that the providers who can manage this are those that can cross-subsidise the free places with additional charges (for example, for extra hours and days).¹⁴⁰

As mentioned in section 2.4 above, at the Spring Budget 2023 the Government announced additional funding, comprising £204 million in 2023-24 (paid from September 2023) and £288 million in 2024-25, to increase the funding rates for the existing entitlements.¹⁴¹ The IFS estimated increasing funding by £288 million in 2024-25 would equate to a 7.5% increase on the current budget. It

¹³⁶ IFS, <u>2020 annual report on education spending in England</u>, 3 November 2020, p33.

¹³⁷ Early Years Alliance, <u>New data shows ministers knew early years was underfunded</u>, 14 June 2021.

¹³⁸ Women's Budget Group, The Chancellor must invest £1.82bn in childcare to help families with the cost-of-living crisis,

¹³⁹ Women's Budget Group, <u>Are Other Nations Outpacing the UK in Childcare?</u>, 30 September 2023.

¹⁴⁰ Kitty Stewart, <u>A half-baked early years funding policy risks negatively impacting children</u>, 20 March 2023.

¹⁴¹ HM Treasury, <u>Spring Budget 2023</u>, HC 1183, March 2023, para 3.48.

said this is "broadly in line with the expected increase in providers' costs over the next two years", but added that "the sector has already absorbed a 13% real cut when adjusted for the cost inflation faced by childcare providers."¹⁴²

DfE's 2021 provider finances report

In April 2022, the DfE published an analysis of the finances of early years providers using data from the <u>survey of childcare and early years providers</u> 2021.¹⁴³ It should be noted that the 2021 survey took place between March and July 2021 when early years providers were still experiencing some disruption as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic.¹⁴⁴

The report's findings included:

- The mean total weekly cost paid by providers (excluding mortgage and rent for childminders) was £2,239 in 2021 (and £4,609 for all providers excluding childminders). For all providers, just under three quarters of the total cost in 2021 was for staff.
- The mean total weekly income for all providers was £2,504 in 2021 (and £5,125 for all providers excluding childminders).
- On average, providers received 55% of their income from parent-paid fees and 33% from free entitlement funding. However, there were substantial differences in the income breakdown across provider types. While private providers received similar proportions of income from parent-paid fees (47%) and free entitlement funding (43%), most income came from free entitlement funding for voluntary providers (63%), nursery classes in schools (75%) and MNS (64%). Childminders received 69% of their income from parent fees.
- The report said the mean income-to-cost-ratio (total weekly income divided by total weekly cost) for all providers was 1.25 in 2021 (1.35 for all providers excluding childminders). The mean ratio was highest for private providers (1.49) and lowest for MNS (1.07). The median income-to-cost ratio (the middle observation when providers are ranked from lowest to highest) was 0.96, indicating that half of providers were around or below the breakeven point where total costs equal total income.
- The mean unit cost (an approximate measure of the average cost per child per hour) for all providers was £4.51 in 2021. The mean cost for all providers was statistically significantly higher in 2021 than in 2019 (an increase of 12%). However, there was no statistically significant

 ¹⁴² IFS, <u>Childcare reforms create a new branch of the welfare state - but also huge risks to the market</u>,
15 March 2023.

¹⁴³ DfE, <u>Providers' finances: survey of childcare and EY providers 2021</u>, 28 April 2022.

¹⁴⁴ DfE, <u>Providers' finances: survey of childcare and EY providers 2021</u>, 28 April 2022, p11.

difference between 2019 and 2021 for any individual provider type apart from childminders.¹⁴⁵

The report said there had been relatively few changes in the financial measures since the last report in 2019. It added:

- There were no statistically significant changes in the mean income-tocost ratio.
- The mean unit cost was higher in 2021 than in 2019, but this was not different from the inflation rate and "was solely driven by a substantial increase for childminders."
- The mean gap between hourly funding rates for free entitlement funding and hourly parent-paid fees widened between 2019 and 2021 for all types of providers.¹⁴⁶

DfE research on cost pressures

In May 2023, the DfE published a <u>research report on the impact of rising costs</u> <u>on early years providers</u>.¹⁴⁷ The report was based on a survey conducted in November 2022 with 1,857 childcare providers. The survey was the fifth in a series of pulse surveys carried out with the sector since summer 2020.

Although most providers did not anticipate closing in the near future, 47% reported that their income was not sufficient to cover their costs. This was significantly higher than in winter 2021, when wave four of the pulse surveys was carried out (35% reported their income was insufficient).

80% of providers reported that they had made at least one change to help them manage their finances because of rising cost pressures. The most common option was to increase fees (62%). 65% of providers reported they had taken at least one other step to manage their finances. Most commonly, this was to use personal savings (33%) or business contingency reserves (20%).

Providers experiencing costs pressures picked out staffing costs (46%) and energy bills (31%) as the main drivers. $^{\rm 148}$

IFS analysis of early years funding

In September 2023, the IFS <u>published a report which analysed changes in</u> <u>early years spending over the last 25 years</u> and assessed the implications of

¹⁴⁵ DfE, <u>Providers' finances: Evidence from the Survey of Childcare and Early Years Providers 2021</u>, March 2022, pp12-16.

¹⁴⁶ DfE, <u>Providers' finances: Evidence from the Survey of Childcare and Early Years Providers 2021</u>, March 2022, pp11-12.

¹⁴⁷ DfE, <u>The impact of rising costs on childcare and early years providers</u>, May 2023.

¹⁴⁸ DfE, <u>The impact of rising costs on childcare and early years providers</u>, May 2023, pp7-11.

the reforms announced in the Spring Budget 2023. The report's key findings included:

- Total childcare spending, including spending on the free entitlements and childcare subsidies through the tax and benefits system, more than quadrupled between 2001-02 and 2018-19, driven by the establishment and expansion of the free childcare entitlements.
- The expansion of the 30 hours entitlement to younger children will mean spending on the free childcare entitlements doubles between 2023-24 and 2026-27, "the largest and fastest expansion on record."
- Childcare providers face "significantly different costs to the economy as a whole". In particular, around three-quarters of their expenses are for staff costs, meaning they are "disproportionately affected by the rapidly rising minimum wage."¹⁴⁹
- Once childcare providers' specific costs are taken into account, core funding for three and four-year-olds was "more than 17% lower" in 2022-23 than a decade previously. Core funding for two-year-olds was no higher in real terms in 2022-23 than when the entitlement was introduced in 2015-16.
- Even with the additional money announced at the Spring Budget 2023, core resources per hour for three and four-year-olds in 2024-25 are estimated to be 11% below their 2012-13 level once providers' costs are taken into account. The Government is prioritising younger children: the funding rate for two-year-olds will be nearly £1 an hour higher in real terms in 2024-25 than its previous peak in 2017-18.
- The extension of the 30 hours entitlement continues a trend of "increasingly targeting support towards children in working families." the reforms will mostly "shift who is paying for care": an estimated fivesixths of spending on the new entitlements will pay for care that parents would otherwise have paid for themselves.¹⁵⁰

Are there enough childcare places?

There is a debate as to whether financial pressures in the early years sector are forcing providers to close and negatively affecting childcare sufficiency.¹⁵¹

The number of registered early years providers has fallen steadily since 2015 and there was a net overall decrease of around 3,320 (5%) providers between

37

Commons Library Research Briefing, 07 December 2023

¹⁴⁹ IFS, <u>Early years spending update: Budget reforms and beyond</u>, September 2023, p18.

¹⁵⁰ IFS, <u>Early years spending update: Budget reforms and beyond</u>, September 2023.

¹⁵¹ HC Deb 13 September 2021, cc205WH-230WH.

31 August 2022 and 31 August 2023. Most of the decline was due to a fall in the number of childminders.

The number of places offered by providers on <u>the early years register</u> has also declined, but not at the same rate as the number of providers. While the number of providers fell by 5% between 31 August 2022 and 31 August 2023, the number of places only declined by 1% to 1.26 million.¹⁵²

In its 2021/22 annual report, published in December 2022, Ofsted said the decline in the number of early years providers and available places may "in part be caused by the considerable decrease in the birth rate. There are also more parents working from home, it added, which may reduce demand for childcare places."¹⁵³

In its September 2023 report, the IFS noted that the number of three and fouryear-olds has fallen by 115,000 or 8% since 2016-17 and this trend is set to accelerate. There are likely to be around 120,000 fewer three and four-yearolds in 2025-26 than there were in September 2023.

The report said the reducing number of children poses "a challenge for the early years sector" and increases the risk that some local markets are faced with "problems of financial sustainability or access". On the other hand, the report added, it "could help ease the pressures in places where the childcare sector is already over-stretched."¹⁵⁴

In response to a parliamentary question in November 2023, the Children's Minister, David Johnston, said the number of places offered by childcare providers had remained broadly stable since 2019, during which time the population of children aged zero to four had fallen. He added:

Under Section 6 of the Childcare Act 2006, local authorities are responsible for ensuring that the provision of childcare is sufficient to meet the requirements of parents in their area.

The department has regular contact with each local authority in England about their sufficiency of childcare and any issues they are facing. Where local authorities report sufficiency challenges, the department discusses what action the local authority is taking to address these issues, and where needed to support the local authority with any specific requirements through the department's childcare sufficiency support contract.¹⁵⁵

¹⁵² Ofsted, <u>Main findings: childcare providers and inspections as at 31 August 2023</u>, 17 November 2023.

¹⁵³ Ofsted, <u>Ofsted Annual Report 2021/22: education, children's services and skills</u>, 13 December 2022, pp25-26.

¹⁵⁴ IFS, Early years spending update: Budget reforms and beyond, September 2023, pp13-14.

¹⁵⁵ <u>PQ 1186 [on childcare]</u>, 9 November 2023.

2 Capital funding and childminder grants

At the Spring Budget 2023, the Government announced it would provide startup grants to childminders to "to support the costs of set up and to grow the childminder market."¹⁵⁶ The scheme opened for applications on 30 November 2023, with £7.2 million of funding. A £600 grant is available for childminders registering with Ofsted and £1,200 is available for those registering with a childminder agency.¹⁵⁷

In October 2023, the Government announced it would provide £100 million of capital funding to local authorities in 2023-24 so that they can support childcare providers in their areas to increase their physical space.¹⁵⁸ Further information, including local authority allocations of the funding, is available at: <u>Childcare expansion capital grant funding</u>.

Coram Childcare Survey 2023

<u>Coram's Childcare Survey 2023</u>, published in March 2023, is the latest in a series of annual reports based on surveys sent to Family Information Services of local authorities in Great Britain.

The report noted that childcare sufficiency for young children had decreased since 2022. Its findings included:

- Most local areas were able to say whether there was enough childcare in their area for younger children (that is, they had sufficient data).
- 50% of local authorities said they had enough childcare places in all areas for children aged under two. 62% had enough in all areas for those accessing the two-year-old entitlement; 73% had enough for children accessing the universal entitlement for three and four-year-olds; and 66% had enough for children accessing the 30 hours entitlement for three and four-year-olds.
- 18% of local authorities said they had enough childcare places in all areas for children with disabilities.¹⁵⁹

6.3 Extension of 30 hours entitlement

While the extension of the 30 hours entitlement to younger children (see section three above) was broadly welcomed, concerns have been raised that

¹⁵⁶ HM Treasury, <u>Spring Budget 2023</u>, HC 1183, March 2023, para 4.163.

¹⁵⁷ <u>HCWS78 [Early Years Update]</u>, 29 November 2023.

¹⁵⁸ DfE, <u>Investment in childcare boosted by new resources and online tools</u>, 27 October 2023.

¹⁵⁹ Coram, <u>Childcare Survey 2023</u>, March 2023, pp22-26.

the funding committed may not be sufficient.¹⁶⁰ It has also been highlighted that, as the Government becomes responsible for funding a greater proportion of pre-school childcare, the importance of getting the funding rate right increases.

The Local Government Association (LGA), for example, said it was supportive of the reforms but that "while the improved funding rates are helpful, this will not be enough to ensure a universal implementation of the scheme." It also suggested that 88% of councils "fear that nursery closures this year will undermine capacity" ahead of the planned extension.¹⁶¹

The Early Years Alliance has suggested the funding rates are "likely to fall short of what the sector needs to successfully deliver the 30-hours expansion in the long term." It added that this is "particularly true" for the three and four-year-olds offer, with settings that do not offer places to younger children likely to be in "an incredibly precarious position."¹⁶²

The Women's Budget Group has estimated that an extra £5.2 billion would need to be allocated in 2025-26 (in addition to the extra £4.2 billion the Government expects to be spending) to cover the true cost of provision for all the funded hours in the Government's plans.¹⁶³

The IFS said the reforms, once fully implemented, will leave the Government in charge of 80% of all pre-school childcare in England (up from around 50% now). This, it says, "raises the stakes for getting the funding rate right" as providers could opt out of delivering the new entitlement or exit the market entirely if the rate is too low.¹⁶⁴

Kitty Stewart has also emphasised that the risks of underfunding increase as the number of funded hours increases:

With greater numbers of funded hours, the risks attached to underfunding become still more serious, because there will be less scope for cross-subsidy. This means an even higher risk of nurseries going under, and it means further pressures on quality.¹⁶⁵

Education Committee, <u>Support for childcare and the early years</u>, 26 July 2023, HC 969 2022-23, para
16.

¹⁶¹ LGA, <u>Nine in 10 councils concerned about nursery capacity ahead of 30 hours free childcare</u> <u>extension – new LGA research</u>, 6 July 2023.

 ¹⁶² Early Years Alliance, <u>Local authority funding rates confirmed for early years entitlement expansion</u>,
29 November 2023.

¹⁶³ Women's Budget Group, <u>WBG finds Government funding for early education and childcare falls</u> <u>short by £5.2bn</u>, 16 March 2023; HM Treasury, <u>Spring Budget 2023</u>, HC 1183, March 2023, Table 4.1, p75.

 ¹⁶⁴ IFS, <u>Childcare reforms create a new branch of the welfare state - but also huge risks to the market</u>,
15 March 2023.

¹⁶⁵ Kitty Stewart, <u>A half-baked early years funding policy risks negatively impacting children</u>, 20 March 2023.

However, the IFS has also cautioned that setting the funding rate too high increases the risk that "public money that might have been spent elsewhere is instead turned into excess profits."¹⁶⁶

The IFS has said the Government "seems to have recognised the risks" by budgeting for higher funding rates for children aged two and under. By 2024-25, it said, funding per hour for this age group will be "significantly above what the private market charges", which should help providers deliver the new entitlements. However, funding for three and four-year-olds "is much closer to existing market prices." This "is a riskier position to be in", the report said, with less margin for error. It added:

That could mean challenges with delivery or providers' financial sustainability in particular areas where the funding rate and providers' costs get out of alignment. However, the relatively generous settlement for younger children could conceivably mean that providers are able to (continue to) cross-subsidise, supplementing their funding for 3- and 4-year-olds with their earnings from younger children.¹⁶⁷

The report added that, while the Government looks "to have headed off the challenge of inadequate funding (at least for younger children)" the bigger challenge will be how the rates are revised going forward.¹⁶⁸

6.4 Education Committee report

In July 2023, the Education Committee published a <u>report on support for</u> childcare and the early years.¹⁶⁹

The report said the free entitlements are "chronically underfunded" and providers report "losing £1-2 an hour by delivering the funded places." "This funding gap", it added, "continues to be a key contributing factor to the current [Early Childhood Education Care system] market struggles" and "is a significant causal factor in the increasing rate of provider closures."¹⁷⁰

While witnesses to the inquiry were "broadly supportive of the additional funding announced in the Spring Budget", concerns were raised "that the level of investment is simply insufficient to achieve the increase in places that the Government is expecting."¹⁷¹

The Committee said the announcements were "a welcome sign that the Government has realised that urgent care and attention is needed in the

- ¹⁶⁶ IFS, <u>Early years spending update: Budget reforms and beyond</u>, September 2023, p23.
- ¹⁶⁷ IFS, <u>Early years spending update: Budget reforms and beyond</u>, September 2023, pp23-24.
- ¹⁶⁸ IFS, <u>Early years spending update: Budget reforms and beyond</u>, September 2023, pp23-24.
- ¹⁶⁹ Education Committee, <u>Support for childcare and the early years</u>, 26 July 2023.

¹⁷⁰ Education Committee, <u>Support for childcare and the early years</u>, 26 July 2023, HC 969 2022-23, paras 25-27.

¹⁷¹ Education Committee, <u>Support for childcare and the early years</u>, 26 July 2023, HC 969 2022-23, paras 14 to 16.

childcare and early years market" and it particularly welcomed "the additional investment in extending the subsidised hours."¹⁷² However, it added that the extension of the 30 hours entitlement places "further demand on a struggling sector" and the sector needs "a sufficient funding rate for the funded entitlements" in order to successfully deliver the proposals.¹⁷³

The report's recommendations included:

- The DfE should work with childcare providers and local authorities to set the funding rate at a sufficient level.
- The Government should work with local authorities to identify areas where childcare provision is insufficient with a view to increasing provision in these areas.
- The Government should consider the case for greater ring-fencing of the Early Years Block of the Dedicated Schools Grant "to ensure that more is passed on to the early years providers who are delivering the funded hours entitlements."¹⁷⁴

On early years funding more generally, the Committee recommended the Government grant all early years providers an exemption from business rates and private voluntary and independent settings should be zero-rated for VAT.¹⁷⁵

Government response

The <u>Government's response to the Committee's report</u> (PDF) was published in October 2023. The response said the DfE recognised the importance of setting local authority funding rates at a level that "reflect the cost of early years childcare delivery and also encourage sustainability of provision and the overall financial health of the childcare sector." It added that data from surveys of providers is used to "support [its] understanding of the costs of delivering childcare and helps to inform the overall quantum of funding required for delivering the early years entitlements."¹⁷⁶

The Government's response to the Committee's other recommendations on funding included:

• On greater ring-fencing, the Government noted it would set a 95% pass through rate for each early years dedicated schools grant funding

¹⁷² Education Committee, <u>Support for childcare and the early years</u>, 26 July 2023, HC 969 2022-23, paras 18.

¹⁷³ Education Committee, <u>Support for childcare and the early years</u>, 26 July 2023, HC 969 2022-23, paras 37.

¹⁷⁴ Education Committee, <u>Support for childcare and the early years</u>, 26 July 2023, HC 969 2022-23, paras 38-41.

¹⁷⁵ Education Committee, <u>Support for childcare and the early years</u>, 26 July 2023, HC 969 2022-23, paras 42-48.

¹⁷⁶ Education Committee, <u>Support for childcare and the early years: Government response to the</u> <u>Committee's Fifth Report (PDF)</u>, 17 October 2023, HC 1902 2022-23, paras 15 to 16.

stream from 2024-25 and intended to increase this to 97% in the future (see section 3.1 above). $^{\scriptscriptstyle 177}$

- On the sufficiency of childcare provision, the Government said it has "regular contact with each local authority in England about childcare sufficiency in their area and any issues they are facing." It added it was working to identify what additional support is required ahead of the expansion of the 30 hours entitlement.¹⁷⁸
- On business rates and VAT, the Government said it "no plans to make changes to the business rates support provided to early years business or the VAT exemption which nurseries currently enjoy."¹⁷⁹

Education Committee, <u>Support for childcare and the early years: Government response to the Committee's Fifth Report</u> (PDF), 17 October 2023, HC 1902 2022-23, paras 22 to 24.

¹⁷⁸ Education Committee, <u>Support for childcare and the early years: Government response to the Committee's Fifth Report</u> (PDF), 17 October 2023, HC 1902 2022-23, paras 25 to 27.

¹⁷⁹ Education Committee, <u>Support for childcare and the early years: Government response to the</u> <u>Committee's Fifth Report</u> (PDF), 17 October 2023, HC 1902 2022-23, paras 34 to 41.

The House of Commons Library is a research and information service based in the UK Parliament. Our impartial analysis, statistical research and resources help MPs and their staff scrutinise legislation, develop policy, and support constituents.

Our published material is available to everyone on commonslibrary.parliament.uk.

Get our latest research delivered straight to your inbox. Subscribe at commonslibrary.parliament.uk/subscribe or scan the code below:





🥑 @commonslibrary